0/a 1-6-88. 29

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 70,407

ANA SILVIA GOEDMAK	ERS)	
	Petitioner,)	
vs.)	FILER
HARRY GOEDMAKERS,)	SID J. WHITE
	Respondent.)	OCT 5 1987
			CLERK, SUPREME COURT
			Deputy Clerk

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PETITIONER, ANA SILVIA GOEDMAKERS

From The Third District Court Of Florida

ŝ

۰,

.

MILLER AND SCHWARTZ, P.A. Attorneys for Petitioner 4040 Sheridan Street Post Office Box 7259 Hollywood, Florida 33081-1259 (305) 962-2000 or Miami 625-3630

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This is a discretionary proceeding pursuant to Rule 9.210(c) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure to review the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal filed March 3, 1987, the Order dated April 8, 1987 denying the timely Motion For Rehearing/Reconsideration, and denying, pursuant to Rule 9.331(c)(3) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, the timely filed Motion For Rehearing En Banc, decision reported at 504 So. 2d 24 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). (A1-2)

Petitioner has invoked the discretionary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court upon the basis of conflict within the meaning of Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution. The decision of the Third District Court of Appeal directly conflicts with Crawford v. Crawford, 415 So. 2d 870 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); and Carroll v. Carroll, 322 So. 2d 53 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975), cert. denied with opinion 341 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1977), with respect to the appropriate criteria to be considered in determining venue in a dissolution of marriage action and directly conflicts with Kalman v. Kalman, 393 So. 2d 641 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), following Feldman v. Feldman, 390 So. 2d 1231 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980); Rosselle v. Rosselle, 366 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979); St. Anne Airways, Inc. v. Webb, 142 So. 2d 142 (Fla. 3d DCA 1962); and Freidus v. Freidus, 80 So. 2d 604 (Fla. 1956), with respect to the Court's jurisdiction over the assets of a non-party separate corporate entity in a dissolution of marriage action. See also Couture v. Couture, 307 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975).

Petitioner also believes, based upon a reasoned and studied professional judgment, that the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal filed March 3, 1987 is of obvious importance to the public in that it deals with the application of the venue statute (Section 47.011 of the Florida Statutes) in dissolution of marriage actions. The application of the venue statute to produce a different result in a case which creates conflict and uncertainty which would be resolved by this Court.

The opinion of the Third District Court created a conflict in the application of a correctly stated rule of law, and jurisdiction was accepted by this Court by Order dated September 15, 1987.

An Appeal from a non-final Order pursuant to Rule 9.130(a) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure to review the Order of the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Dade County, Florida, Judge Edward M. Moore, presiding, dated October 9, 1986, was filed in the Third District Court of Appeal. The Order appealed denied the Petitioner's (Wife's) Motion To Abate/Dismiss For Improper Venue in a dissolution of marriage action.

The parties will be referred to by their designation in the Trial Court; that is, Petitioner will be called "Wife," and Respondent will be called "Husband".

"A" refers to Appendix To Initial Brief On The Merits Of Petitioner.

2

-,

All emphasis is the writer's unless otherwise indicated.

The Husband filed a simple Petition For Dissolution Of Marriage in the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Dade County, Florida, Case No. 86-35738 FC (Judge Moore) (A3), on or about August 15, 1986. The Husband's simple Petition For Dissolution Of Marriage states only:

"Petitioner/Husband, HARRY GOEDMAKERS, through his undersigned counsel, files his Petition For Dissolution Of Marriage and as grounds therefor alleges:

1. This is an action for dissolution of marriage between Petitioner/Husband and Respondent/Wife, ANA SILVIA GOEDMAKERS.

2. Petitioner has been a resident of Florida for more than six months next preceding the filing of this Petition For Dissolution Of Marriage.

3. The parties were married to each other in Miami, Florida in 1959.

4. There are no minor children of this marriage.

5. The parties have been separated for one year and the marriage between the parties is irretrievably broken.

WHEREFORE, Petitioner/Husband prays for a judgment dissolving the marriage and for such other and further relief as may be meet and proper."

The Wife was served with the Husband's Petition For Dissolution Of Marriage on August 18, 1986 (A4), and timely filed her Motion To Abate/Dismiss For Improper Venue, together with an Affidavit in support thereof (A5), on or about September 11, 1986, alleging that the Husband's Petition For Dissolution Of Marriage was not filed in the County where either party resides, where the cause of action, if any, accrued, or where any property

in litigation is located, affirmatively showing that both the Husband and Wife reside in Broward County, Florida, that the cause of action, if any, accrued in Broward County, Florida, where the parties last cohabited as Husband and Wife with a common intent to remain married, where the separation was effectuated, where the marriage became irretrievably broken, and where the marital home is located. (A5-18)

On the eve of hearing on the Wife's Motion To Abate/Dismiss For Improper Venue, the Husband served upon the Wife's attorney an Affidavit in opposition to the Wife's Motion, which alleged that the parties own stock in a corporation, the business of which corporation is located in Dade County, Florida; that all corporate and personal financial planning records are in Dade County, Florida; that all legal and other professional advisors are in Dade County, Florida; and that if the matter (the Husband's simple Petition For Dissolution Of Marriage) cannot be amicably resolved, the Husband will direct his attorney to amend the Complaint to pray for a division of property, including the corporation, or its dissolution, as well as a special equity in the corporate stock issued in the Wife's name. (A19-21) The Husband's simple Petition For Dissolution Of Marriage raises no property or support issues, and does not, in any manner, place in controversy any property of the parties.

The Wife's Affidavit (A17-18) established, <u>prima</u> <u>facie</u>, that the Husband's Petition For Dissolution Of Marriage was not brought in the County where any of the parties' property in

litigation is located, and the Husband's Affidavit (A19-21), in an effort to rebut that <u>prima facie</u> showing, merely "anticipates" that there will be "property in litigation" in the future, once his pleadings are amended (and apparently a non-party, separate corporate entity properly brought within the Court's jurisdiction) and seeks to create the "illusion" that there <u>is</u> property of the parties "in litigation" and located in Dade County, Florida, i.e., the business and assets of the non-party corporation, the stock in which (intangible personal property) is presumably owned by the parties.

The Record does not reflect the pendency of any cause of action against the non-party separate corporate entity, its business or its assets.

The Record does not reflect that the corporation's existence is fraudulent, that it is under-capitalized, or that personal assets of the parties have been commingled with the corporation.

The Record does not reflect that the activities and conduct of either the Husband or the Wife are so intimate with the corporation as to establish the presumption that their finances are so inextricably intertwined as to declare the corporation a necessary party to the dissolution of marriage action.

The Record does not reflect that an adjudication of marital property rights (equitable division and distribution) or an adjudication of the Husband's promised claim for a special

equity in the stock issued in the Wife's name, requires the Trial Court to obtain jurisdiction over the corporation or that the corporation be a party to the dissolution of marriage action.

Motion The Trial Court denied the Wife's To Abate/Dismiss For Improper Venue, apparently disregarding the corporate entity of the non-party corporation, unconcerned that that Husband's Petition sought only a dissolution of the marriage of the parties, and unconvinced that Carroll v. Carroll, supra, was persuasive authority to establish that where the property "in litigation" is located is generally not a controlling factor in determining the proper venue for a dissolution of marriage action. (A22)

The facts recited in the panel's opinion below only refer to the "property" located in Dade County, Florida, as a "thriving business operated by the Husband and in which the Wife holds a substantial ownership interest." The opinion does not reflect that the thriving business is owned by the non-party corporation, notwithstanding that the Wife's two (2) Briefs, the Husband's Brief, the Wife's Motion For Rehearing/Reconsideration, the Wife's Motion For Rehearing En Banc, and the Husband's Response to the Wife's Motions all clearly concede, as an undisputed fact, that the business is owned by the non-party corporation, which also does business in several other Florida counties. The parties' stock in the corporation is located in Broward County, Florida, where <u>both</u> of the parties reside, another undisputed fact overlooked by the panel below in its

opinion.

t

• _ _ _

The panel below has redefined the meaning of "where the property in litigation is located" for purposes of determining venue in dissolution of marriage actions. Now a spouse may properly file an action in any county where any corporation, in which either party owns stock, does business!

POINTS ON APPEAL

POINT I

BROWARD COUNTY IS THE ONLY PROPER VENUE IN A DISSOLUTION OF MARRIAGE ACTION WHERE IT IS UNCONTROVERTED THAT BOTH THE HUSBAND AND WIFE RESIDE IN BROWARD COUNTY, WHERE THE CAUSE OF ACTION FOR DISSOLUTION OF MARRIAGE ACCRUED IN BROWARD COUNTY (WHERE THE PARTIES LAST COHABITED AS HUSBAND AND WIFE WITH A COMMON INTENT TO REMAIN MARRIED, WHERE THE SEPARATION OF THE PARTIES OCCURRED, AND WHERE THE MARRIAGE BECAME IRRETRIEVABLY BROKEN), AND WHERE THE MARRIAGE BECAME IRRETRIEVABLY BROKEN), AND WHERE THE MARRIAL HOME IS LOCATED IN BROWARD COUNTY AND THERE IS NO PROPERTY OF THE PARTIES LOCATED IN ANY OTHER COUNTY.

POINT II

THE BUSINESS AND ASSETS OF A NON-PARTY CORPORATION ARE NOT "PROPERTY IN LITIGATION" FOR PURPOSES OF DETERMINING PROPER VENUE IN A DISSOLUTION OF MARRIAGE ACTION SIMPLY BECAUSE THE HUSBAND AND/OR WIFE MAY OWN STOCK IN THAT CORPORATION.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In a dissolution of marriage action, the dissolution of the marriage <u>is</u> the "<u>focal point</u>" of the action! It is the principal right asserted and the primary relief sought for venue purposes.

The Wife established that Broward County, Florida was the only proper venue for the dissolution of marriage action and venue should have been transferred accordingly.

For purposes of divorce actions, venue is determined by the county in which the breach occurred or by the county where the marriage last existed. "Property in litigation" <u>is not</u> the "<u>focal point</u>" of such action and generally, where the property in litigation is located is not, and should not be the basis upon which venue is determined, in order to avoid forum shopping and manipulation of the Courts and the judicial system in marriage dissolution actions.

The business and assets of a non-party corporation are not "property in litigation" for purposes of determining proper venue in a dissolution of marriage action simply because the Husband and/or Wife may own stock in that corporation. Unless a corporation is an alter ego of a spouse, a Court, upon dissolution of marriage, may award only shares of stock, <u>and not</u> corporate assets. An adjudication of a non-party corporation's rights in a dissolution of marriage action is a denial of due process of law.

The Husband's initial choice of venue was <u>wrong</u> and both the Trial Court and the District Court erroneously construed the facts and erroneously applied the law. Error in law cannot be permitted to stand and must be corrected.

÷

ARGUMENT

POINT I

BROWARD COUNTY IS THE ONLY PROPER VENUE IN Α DISSOLUTION OF MARRIAGE ACTION IT WHERE IS UNCONTROVERTED THAT BOTH THE HUSBAND AND WIFE RESIDE IN COUNTY, THE BROWARD WHERE CAUSE OF ACTION FOR DISSOLUTION OF MARRIAGE ACCRUED IN BROWARD COUNTY (WHERE THE PARTIES LAST COHABITED AS HUSBAND AND WIFE WITH A COMMON INTENT TO REMAIN MARRIED, WHERE THE SEPARATION OF THE PARTIES OCCURRED, AND WHERE THE MARRIAGE BECAME IRRETRIEVABLY BROKEN), AND WHERE THE MARITAL HOME IS LOCATED IN BROWARD COUNTY AND THERE IS NO PROPERTY OF THE PARTIES LOCATED IN ANY OTHER COUNTY.

The proper venue of an action is determined by the nature of the principal right asserted and relief sought. See <u>McMullen v. McMullen</u>, 122 So. 2d 626 (Fla. 2d DCA 1960). In this case, the nature of the Husband's principal right asserted (in fact his only right asserted in his Petition) and relief sought is a dissolution of marriage. The dissolution of the parties' marriage is the "<u>focal point</u>" of the action.

The initial choice of venue is the Husband's, as the Petitioner, and as long as that choice is correct, a change of venue can only be obtained upon discretionary grounds as set forth in Chapter 47 of the Florida Statutes, such as inconvenient forum or inability to obtain a fair trial in the county where the action is pending. If the Husband's initial choice of venue is incorrect, the Wife <u>is</u> entitled to dictate a change of venue, as a matter of privilege and right, upon meeting the burden of pleading and proving that venue is improper. See <u>Brennan v.</u> <u>Brennan</u>, 192 So. 2d 782 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966).

Venue refers to the geographical area in which the defendant to a suit generally has the right to be sued, see <u>Stewart v. Carr</u>, 218 So. 2d 525 (Fla. 2d DCA 1969), and the intent and primary purpose of venue statutes is to require that litigation be instituted in that forum which will cause the least amount of inconvenience and expense to those parties required to answer and defend the action. See <u>Kilpatrick v. Boynton</u>, 374 So. 2d 557 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979); and <u>Gaboury v. Flagler Hospital</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 316 So. 2d 642 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975), and the cases cited therein.

In <u>Crawford v. Crawford</u>, 415 So. 2d 870 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), the Court stated:

"Generally, the defendant's privilege of venue permits him to object to an action being maintained in a county other than the one where he resides, where the cause of action accrued, or where the property in litigation is located. Section 47.011, Fla. Stat. If he is sued in one of these three places, he may not object on the ground of 'improper venue.' (citation omitted) However, in a dissolution of marriage, the trial court is to look to the single county where 'the intact marriage was last evidenced by a continuing union of partners who intended to remain and to remain married, indefinitely if not permanently,'" citing Carroll v. Carroll, 322 So. 2d 53 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975), cert denied with opinion 341 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1977). (Emphasis added)

In <u>Carroll v. Carroll</u>, the District Court, in commenting on where the property in litigation is located as a basis for proper venue in a dissolution of marriage action, stated

"This provision is commonly understood to refer only to actions local in nature (e.g., Hendry Corp. v. State, 313 So. 2d 453 [Fla. App. 2nd, 1975]), which a marriage dissolution proceeding is not. Evans v. Evans, 141 Fla. 860, 194 So. 215 (1940); McGowin v. McGowin, 122 Fla. 394, 165 So. 274 (1936), affd. 131 Fla. 247, 172 So. 927 (1937)."

This Court, in denying cert. with opinion, reported at 341 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1977), approved the decision of the District Court in Carroll, not merely the result reached, stating:

"We agree with the reasoning of the First District Court of Appeal and adopted it as our own."

To avoid forum shopping and manipulation of the Courts and the judicial system in dissolution of marriage actions, this Court should once again confirm the <u>Carroll/Crawford</u> rationale.

In <u>Eisenberg v. Eisenberg</u>, 453 So. 2d 83 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), the First District followed its previous decisions in <u>Carroll</u>, and <u>Crawford</u>, holding that where venue is contested, the locus of the cause of action must be decided by the trier of fact consistent with the meaning and application of Section 47.011 of the Florida Statutes. There the parties resided in Jacksonville until the husband moved to Tallahassee alone where he rented an apartment and <u>brought a few personal items</u> over from the marital home during weekend trips to visit family. The wife maintained the jointly owned marital home and remained there with the parties' daughter. The District Court affirmed the Trial Court's denial of the husband's motion to change venue to Tallahassee and stated:

"This Court established its position on the issue of venue in divorce cases through Judge Robert Smith's opinion in Carroll v. Carroll, supra, where he stated:

'To protect the beneficial purposes of both the marriage dissolution legislation and the venue statute, we are required to look, not for the county or the scattered counties where the breach may be said to have occurred, but to the single county where the marriage last existed. In that county the intact marriage was last evidenced by a continuing union of partners who intended to remain and to remain married, indefinitely if not permanently.'"

The Florida Bar CLE Manuel, Second Edition, 1985, entitled "Dissolution Of Marriage," at Section 3.58, Page 3-54,

III, <u>VENUE</u>, states:

"For purposes of divorce actions, venue is determined by the county in which the breach occurred or by the county where the marriage last existed. Carroll v. Carroll, 322 So. 2d 53 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975), aff'd 341 So. 2d 771. See also Eisenberg v. Eisenberg, 453 So. 2d 83 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Thames v. Thames, 449 So. 2d 402 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984)."

Here, it was uncontroverted that both the Husband and the Wife resided in Broward County, that the Husband's cause of action for dissolution of marriage accrued in Broward County, and that the marital home was located in Broward County. There are no allegations in the Husband's Petition that make it appear that there is property of the parties in litigation in Dade County, if that be an appropriate criterion, and, in fact, the Husband's Petition does not introduce in the litigation any property rights whatsoever.

In <u>Winter v. Curtis</u>, 311 So. 2d 815 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975), the District Court affirmed the dismissal of a complaint on the

basis of improper venue where there were no allegations in the complaint that made it appear that a cause of action accrued in Dade County. Here, the Husband's Petition contains no allegations that make it appear that there is property of the parties in litigation located in Dade County. See also <u>Thames v.</u> <u>Thames</u>, 449 So. 2d 402 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), where property in litigation was not considered as a statutory basis for laying venue because it appeared in the pleadings that no property was in litigation.

The Husband must be bound and restricted by his Petition which seeks only a dissolution of the parties' marriage. The Wife has the right to rely upon the allegations of the Husband's Petition as defining the issues and scope of the Husband's cause of action to avoid, <u>inter alia</u>, "trial by ambush." The Husband's illusory or phantom property <u>of the</u> <u>parties</u> in litigation and located in Dade County cannot be utilized to circumvent the legislative intent and purpose of the venue statutes.

The Wife met the burden of establishing that the Husband's initial choice of venue was improper, and the Trial Court incorrectly denied the Wife's Motion To Abate/Dismiss For Improper Venue. Where the Court <u>may</u> change venue, it's a matter of the Court's sound discretion. However, it is the Court's duty to change venue when required by statute, thus that is not a

discretionary act. It is proper and the duty of an Appellate Court to reverse an Order when it is determined that the Court's findings or conclusions upon which it was made is clearly wrong either because it is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence or contrary to the legal effect of the law applicable thereto. See <u>Leonard v. Leonard</u>, 259 So. 2d 529 (Fla. 2d DCA 1972). Application of the correct legal rule is not a matter of discretion. Error of law cannot be permitted to stand. See <u>Wagner v. Wagner</u>, 383 So. 2d 987 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980).

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