0/9 1-6-88

29 Juster

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANA SILVIA GOEDMAKERS,	**	
Petitioner,	**	CASE NO. 70,407
vs.	**	
HARRY GOEDMAKERS,	**	And a local state of the second state of the s
Respondent.	* *	SID J. WHITE
	/	NOV o 1987 C
		CLERK, SUPREME COURT

2

Ê

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Petition for Discretionary Review From The District Court Of Appeal Of Florida, Third District.

> Lisa Heller Green, Esq. Daniel Neal Heller, Esq. HELLER AND KAPLAN Attorneys for Respondent 1205 Israel Discount Bank Bldg. 14 N.E. First Avenue Miami, FL 33132 (305) 358-5544

##

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The choice of venue belongs to the husband as petitioner in the trial court.

2. The husband is not required to establish the propriety of his choice of venue. He need not plead nor prove that his venue selection is proper. Rather, the burden of proof to show that venue is improper is on the wife and the wife failed to sustain her burden of proof.

3. Venue of this cause is proper in Dade County, under the Florida general venue statute, § 47.011 Fla. Stat. (1985), in that Dade County is the situs of property in litigation.

4. The <u>Crawford</u> and <u>Carroll</u> decisions do not conflict with the decision of the Third District, as those cases address themselves solely to the issue of where a cause of action for dissolution of marriage accrues, only one of the three equally weighted venue bases under § 47.011, Fla. Stat. (1985). Unlike the instant case, there was no property in litigation in Crawford and Carroll.

5. The <u>Crawford</u> and <u>Carroll</u> decisions do not, and cannot be construed to, rewrite the general venue statute by excising from the statute the "property in litigation" basis for venue. If the legislature had intended for there to be an exception to the general venue statute in dissolution actions it would have expressly provided one. It did not,

- 6 -

and the decisions of the First District in <u>Crawford</u> and Carroll do not and cannot create one.

6. Contrary to the wife's assertions, Dade County is a convenient forum for this action. The husband's affidavit establishes that the witnesses having knowledge of the details concerning the parties' property and their insurance policies, pension plans, corporate and personal financial matters, and their estates, are located in Dade County, as are the property records, files, corporate minute books, insurance policies, etc. Thus, the cost of litigation will be greatly reduced by maintaining the action in Dade County.

7. The wife (and husband), having voluntarily chosen over an extended period to locate their property and to conduct their business affairs and supervise their property rights in Dade County, should not be permitted to forum shop simply because more than one year earlier they resided together in Broward County.

8. In dissolution of marriage actions today the focal point has become the division of the property, not the breakup of the marriage.

9. The assets of a closely held corporation owned and operated by the parties can be divided and distributed and the corporation dissolved as well in a dissolution of marriage action between the parties where the corporation is made a party. Furthermore, the conflicting claims of the

- 7 -

individual parties to the assets as well as the stock of the corporation, render the assets and stock "property in litigation".

÷

#### ARGUMENT

THE WIFE FAILED TO MEET HER BURDEN OF PROVING THAT THE VENUE SELECTED BY THE HUSBAND IS IMPROPER.

The Third District, agreed with the trial court that the wife failed to meet her burden of establishing that the husband's choice of venue is improper and thus found that the trial court did not abuse its "broad discretion" in denying the wife's motion to abate/dismiss for improper venue, citing <u>Groome v. Abrams</u>, 448 So.2d 82 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) (R-24; A-1-2).

While conceding that the burden is on the wife to prove that venue is <u>improper</u> the wife nevertheless shifts the burden to the husband to have established the propriety of his choice of venue in his petition for dissolution of marriage.

But, that is <u>not</u> the law. The husband "is not required to plead facts in support of his selection of the venue for his suit". Groome, supra, at 83.

In <u>Inverness Coca-Cola Bottling Company v.</u> <u>McDaniel</u>, the Court held:

> It is of the very nature of venue that the plaintiff [petitioner] selects it initially but that he need not plead or prove that his selection has been proper. The burden of pleading and proving that venue is improper is upon the defendant [respondent]. (emphasis and brackets added).

> > - 9 -

78 So.2d 100, 102 (Fla. 1955).

And, the wife has the burden of "clearly proving" that the husband's choice of venue is improper. <u>Groome</u>, supra, at 83. This, she failed to do.

Under the general venue statute §47.011, Fla. Stat. (1985), venue is proper in any one of the following counties: where the defendant resides, where the cause of action accrued, or where the property in litigation is located. If a party is sued in any one of these places he may not complain that the venue selected is improper. <u>Board of</u> <u>Public Instruction v. First Nat. Bank</u>, 111 Fla. 4, 143 So. 738, 741 (1932); aff'd. on rehearing, 149 So. 213 (1933).

The husband's proof established the existence of "property in litigation" in Dade County, his choice of forum (R-19; AA-2-4). The wife's proof does not refute this specifically enumerated venue basis, other than generally alleging that the husband's petition for dissolution does not reflect, on its face, any property in litigation (A-17). But, the husband is not required to plead or prove proper venue in his petition; and such a conclusory statement as that made by the wife in her affidavit is insufficient to establish that venue is improper. See, <u>Lake Worth Premium</u> <u>Finance Co., Inc. v. Singletary</u>, 493 So.2d 1130, 1131 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). Furthermore, the election of venue is the prerogative of the husband, as petitioner, not the wife. <u>Itel-Pas, Inc. v. Jones</u>, 389 So.2d 1085, 1086 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980); <u>Florida Forms, Inc. v. Barkett Computer Serv., Inc.</u>, 311 So.2d 730, 731 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975).

It is the husband's "statutory right" to choose a forum, and his election controls, unless venue will not lie in that place. <u>Houchins v. Florida East Coast Ry. Co.</u>, 388 So.2d 1034, 1035 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980).

The wife does admit, at page 11 of her brief, that "initially" the choice of venue is the husband's but she ignores the principle of law that where venue is proper in more than one county, as it is in this case, the choice of county belongs to the petitioner/husband, not to the respondent/wife. Houchins, supra, at 1289.

The Third District properly affirmed the trial court's denial of the wife's motion because she failed to meet her burden of establishing that the husband's choice of venue is improper.

As an aside, we note that the trial court denied the wife's motion "without prejudice" (R-22; AA-1), thereby leaving open the opportunity for the wife to raise the issue of venue in the future. The wife, having failed to meet her burden of proof at the first hearing, should not be heard to complain first to the District Court and now to this Court particularly where the trial court's order preserves her right to renew her motion.

- 11 -

### DADE COUNTY IS A PROPER VENUE FOR THIS ACTION

In his affidavit, the husband alleged that the parties are the owners of a company doing business in Dade County in which the wife owns, in her own name, the parties' stock in the corporation (50% of the stock) (R-19; AA-2-4). The husband further alleged that he will seek a division of that property, meaning the assets of the company, or its dissolution and the imposition of a special equity in his favor in the stock of that corporation held by the wife (R-19; AA-2-4).The wife has not yet filed a responsive pleading in the dissolution action, other than her motion to abate/dismiss for improper venue. Therefore, we cannot say for certain what property claims she will assert. However, in her initial brief to the Third District, the wife intimated that she will assert a claim of "equitable division and distribution of marital property" in the form of a claim against the stock of that corporation (AA-5-6).

Thus, at a minimum, the parties' have each put the stock of the corporation "in litigation", and by virtue of the husband's claim, the corporation's assets  $\frac{2}{}$  are "property in litigation" as well.

- 12 -

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{2}{}$  We agree with the wife that in order for the trial court to order a transfer of the corporation's assets to either or both of the parties, the corporation must be made a

The venue statute, §47.011, Fla. Stat. (1985), expressly provides that venue lies in the county where the property in litigation is located. Therefore, Dade County is clearly a proper venue for this action.

The wife overlooks the fact that the husband's property claim is not limited to the stock of the Dade County corporation. In his affidavit the husband states that he will seek a division of the corporation's assets, or a dissolution of the corporation.

Furthermore, contrary to what the wife would have the Court believe, we are not talking about stock in a corporation that the parties' own as an investment, or a corporation in which the parties have no direct personal involvement, or a "shell corporation" (wife's brief, p. 23), rather we are talking about a "thriving business operated by the husband, in which the wife holds a substantial ownership interest" (opinion of the Third District, R-24; A-1-2). A business owned and operated by the parties for more than five years prior to the filing of the dissolution action (R-19;

## (footnote 2 continued)

party to the action. Rosenberg v. North American Biologicals, Inc., 413 So.2d 435 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); Feldman v. Feldman, 390 So.2d 1231 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980). Venue of the action against the corporation is proper in Dade County, as well. §47.051, Fla. Stat. (1985). The wife cannot refute that the "principal place of business" of Best Blueprint and Supply Company, Inc., is in Miami, Dade County.

- 13 -

AA-2-4). A business which is part and parcel of the parties' marital property. That business and its assets, not to mention the corporation's books and records, are located in Dade County, and by virtue of the husband's claim, are very much "property in litigation" under the venue statute, §47.011, Fla. Stat. (1985) (R-19; AA-2-4).

Those assets can be divided and distributed and the corporation dissolved in this dissolution action, when the corporation is made a party as well, as the husband has expressed his intention to do (R-19; AA-2-4). As we explained earlier, when after a year's separation from his wife, the husband filed his simple petition without enumerating any property claims, he had hoped that the matter would be amicably resolved. By virtue of the pendency of the wife's appeal from the trial court's order denying her venue motion, proceedings in the trial court have been virtually at a standstill since the initiation of the dissolution of marriage proceeding.

- 14 -

### PROPERTY IN LITIGATION IS A VALID BASIS FOR VENUE IN A DISSLOUTION OF MARRIAGE ACTION

Relying upon her interpretation of the decisions of the First District in <u>Crawford v. Crawford</u>, 415 So.2d 870 (1982), and <u>Carroll v. Carroll</u>, 322 So.2d 53 (1975), aff'd., 341 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1977), the wife argues that venue of a proceeding for dissolution of marriage is only proper in the county where the parties last resided together with the intent to remain married.

But, this reasoning ignores the very language of the general venue statute:

47.011 Where actions may be begun. Actions shall be brought only in the county where the defendant resides, where the cause of action accrued, or where the property in litigation is located ...

If a party is sued in any one of these locations he cannot claim that venue is improper. <u>Board of Public</u> <u>Instruction, supra</u>, 143 So. at 741.

The issue decided in <u>Carroll</u> was whether the <u>cause</u> of <u>action</u> for dissolution of marriage arose in Okaloosa County because the petitioner alleged that the marriage became irretrievably broken there when her husband took away the car keys. 341 So.2d 771, 772 (Fla. 1977).

Faced with the fact that the action had not been filed in the county where the respondent resided, and because there was no property in litigation, the <u>Carroll</u> court was left with only one remaining basis for determining whether

- 15 -

venue was proper in the petitioner's chosen forum; that is, where the cause of action for dissolution of marriage accrued.

The <u>Carroll</u> and <u>Crawford</u> (which follows <u>Carroll</u>) decisions define where a cause of action accrues in a dissolution of marriage action. They are strictly limited by the issues which were presented in those cases. As there was no property in litigation in those cases, they cannot be construed to rule out that statutory basis for venue in marriage dissolution actions.

The legislature, in enacting § 47.011 of the Florida Statutes did not limit its applicability in actions for dissolution of marriage. The statutory language is "actions", not, all actions other than those for dissolution of marriage. And, there is nothing in Chapter 61 of the Florida Statutes, dealing with dissolution of marriage, which conflicts with or is contradictory to § 47.011 or enacts into law the rationale which the wife urges upon the Court, relying on her interpretation of Carroll and Crawford.

Furthermore, <u>Carroll</u> and <u>Crawford</u> do not abrogate the equally proper basis for venue in dissolution actions of where the property in litigation is located. This is evident from the second district's opinion in <u>Thames v. Thames</u>, 449 So.2d 402 (1984):

- 16 -

There is no property in litigation in this cause. Appellant's sworn affidavit indicates that he continues to reside in Alachua County, Florida. Thus, the <u>remaining basis</u> for venue is where the cause of action arose. (emphasis supplied).

See also, <u>Auritt v. Auritt</u>, 334 So.2d 68 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1976); Smith v. Smith, 430 So.2d 521 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983).

If property in litigation was no longer a valid "remaining basis" for venue after the decisions in <u>Carroll</u> in <u>Crawford</u>, why would the court in <u>Thames</u> have made a point of mentioning it? Wouldn't that have been superfluous? We believe not, particularly as the focal point of dissolution proceedings today is now the division of the property, not the breakup of the marriage.

Since the Court's decision in <u>Canakaris v.</u> <u>Canakaris</u>, 382 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1980), decided five years prior to the First District's opinion in <u>Carroll</u>, trial courts today are utilizing the principle of equitable distribution to make a division of all of the marital property, regardless of how title is actually held. Division of property in a dissolution case is as much a part of the function of the trial court today as are the traditional concepts of alimony and child support.

Thus, by virtue of the evolution of the law since <u>Canakaris</u>, many dissolution proceedings today are actions involving disputed property. They permit a petitioner such

- 17 -

as the husband here to invoke the provision of § 47.011, Fla. Stat. (1985) which clearly allows an action to be maintained in the county where the property in litigation is located.

And, such application of the law makes good sense. Here, it will drastically reduce the cost of litigation. All the witnesses, the records, and the very hub of the parties' properties are in Dade County. Times have changed as have the needs of the parties to promptly and inexpensively resolve their dissolution problems.

We have not overlooked footnote 1 of the first district's <u>Carroll</u> decision, 322 So.2d 53, at 54, which seems to limit the applicability of the "property in litigation" basis for venue in dissolution proceedings, and from which the wife has quoted a small portion (wife's brief at pp. 12-13).  $\frac{3}{}$ The footnote is somewhat confusing in that it seems to equate a child with property in litigation.

The Court's affirmance of <u>Carroll</u> is strictly limited to the issue of whether the cause of action arose in

We here lay out the entire footnote with citations ommitted: "Ms. Carroll makes no attempt to invoke the additional provision of § 47.011 allowing an action to be maintained in the county 'where the property in litigation is located.' This provision is commonly understood to refer only to actions local in nature, which a marriage dissolution proceeding is not... It has been held, however, that the presence of a child in the forum county is sufficient to sustain venue of an action involving his custody and support, despite objection by a defendant residing in a distant county ..."

Okaloosa County because the petitioner alleged that the marriage became irretrievably broken there when her husband took away the car keys. 341 So.2d 771 at 772 (Fla. 1977). Thus, it cannot be construed as an approval of the <u>dicta</u> in footnote 1. No court has adopted that principle. And, as aforesaid, the case law  $\frac{4}{}$  indicates that property in litigation is a relevant venue consideration in dissolution cases.

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